
AGENDA REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

DATE & TIME Wednesday, February 21, 2024 - 6:31 PM  
LOCATION  
Independence Plaza, 703 Atlantic Avenue, Alameda - Ruth Rambeau Memorial Community 
Room  

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  Public access to this meeting is available as follows: 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83030077310?pwd=fv5xIYAEFr5k4f7GI6KQMDOK4vRw4g.1 

Meeting ID: 830 3007 7310 
Passcode: 790402 

Persons wishing to address the Board of Directors are asked to submit comments for the 
public speaking portion of the Agenda as follows: 

 Send an email with your comment(s) to jpolar@alamedahsg.org and 
vcooper@alamedahsg.org prior to or during the Board of Directors meeting 

 Call and leave a message at (510) 871-7435. 

When addressing the Board, on agenda items or business introduced by Directors, members 
of the public may speak for a maximum of three minutes per agenda item when the subject is 
before the Board. 

Persons in need of special assistance to participate in the meetings of the Alameda 
Affordable Housing Corporation Board of Directors, please contact (510) 747-4325 (voice), 
TTY/TRS: 711, or jpolar@alamedahsg.org. Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will 
enable the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation Board of Directors to make reasonable 
arrangements to ensure accessibility or language assistance.   

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

1. ROLL CALL - Board of Directors

2. AB2449 COMPLIANCE The Chair will confirm that there are 4 members in the same,
properly noticed meeting room within the jurisdiction of the City of Alameda. Each
board member who is accessing the meeting remotely must disclose verbally whether
they are able to be remote under AB2449: (1) just cause (max. 2 per year), or (2)
emergency circumstances.” For Emergency Circumstances, the request must be



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting Page 2 
February 21, 2024 

approved by a majority vote of the Board of Directors for the emergency 
circumstances to be used as a justification to participate remotely. Remote Directors 
must provide a general description of the circumstances relating to the need to 
appear remotely at the given meeting. Directors must also publicly disclose at the 
meeting, prior to any action, whether any other individuals 18 years or older are 
present in the room with the member at the remote location, and the general nature of 
the member’s relationship with such individuals. Note: A Director cannot participate in 
meetings of the Board of Directors solely by teleconference from a remote location for 
a period of more than 3 consecutive months or 20% of the regular meetings for AAHC 
within a calendar year, or more than 2 meetings if the Board of Directors regularly 
meets fewer than 10 times per calendar year. 

3. COMMISSIONER RECUSALS

4. Public Comment (Non-Agenda)

5. CONSENT CALENDER 
Consent Calendar items are considered routine and will be approved or accepted by one
motion unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the Board
of Directors or a member of the public.

5.A.  Approve Minutes of the Regular Board of Directors Meetings held December 20,
2023, and January 17, 2024. 

5.B.  Accept the AHA/AAHC non-LIHTC Portfolio Asset Management Fiscal Year to Date
Financial Report through September 30, 2023. 

5.C.  Authorize the Executive Director to approve a contract between the Housing Authority
of the City of Alameda, Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation and Transystems 
Corporation for Relocation Services for a not to exceed amount of Five Hundred 
Thousand dollars and Zero cents ($500,000.00) until February 28, 2027. 

5.D.  Approve the Budget for Removal and Replacement of (30) Exterior Elevated
Balconies at Anne B. Diament Plaza. Authorize the Executive Director to Sign a 
Contract with AmOne Construction Not to exceed $862,600. 

6. AGENDA

6.A.  Adopt the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation Procurement Policy.

7. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS, Non-Agenda (Public Comment)

8. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S COMMUNICATIONS

9. DIRECTORS COMMUNICATIONS, (Communications from the Directors)

10. ADJOURNMENT OF REGULAR MEETING

11. AB2449 COMPLIANCE

* * * Note * * *

Documents related to this agenda are available for public inspection and copying at the 
Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation office, 701 Atlantic Avenue, during normal business 
hours. 

KNOW YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THE Ralph M. Brown Act: Government’s duty is to serve the 
public, reaching its decisions in full view of the public.  The Board of Directors exists to 

Page 4

Page 8

Page 23

Page 41

Page 44



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 3 
February 21, 2024 

  

conduct the business of its constituents. Deliberations are conducted before the people and 
are open for the people’s review. 
 
In order to assist the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation’s efforts to accommodate 
persons with severe allergies, environmental illnesses, multiple chemical sensitivity or related 
disabilities, attendees at public meetings are reminded that other attendees may be sensitive 
to various chemical based products. Please help the Alameda Affordable Housing 
Corporation accommodate these individuals. 



 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Wednesday, December 20, 2023 

 

  

 

 

  



  

  

 

 
 

Items accepted or adopted are indicated by an asterisk.

  

  

  

  

  

 



 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Wednesday, January 17, 2024 
 

  

 

 

  

  



  

 

  

 

 
Items accepted or adopted are indicated by an asterisk.

  

  

  

  

  

 



  

 

 
 
To: Board of Directors 
From:  
  

Bulbul Goswami, Director of Asset Management  

Prepared By: Bulbul Goswami, Director of Asset Management 

 
Date:  
  

February 21, 2024  

Re: Accept the AHA/AAHC non-LIHTC Portfolio Asset Management Fiscal 
Year to Date Financial Report through September 30, 2023. 
5.B. 

 
BACKGROUND 
The Housing Authority of the City of Alameda (AHA) and the Alameda Affordable Housing 
Corporation (AAHC) hold a portfolio of affordable housing stock.  The cumulative unit count is 
543 units, of which 47% house seniors and 53% house families. Most of the units are 
supported by Project-Based Voucher and Housing Choice Voucher rental subsidy programs 
and do not have hard debt.   
 
AAHC's portfolio includes Anne B. Diament Plaza (65 units), Independence Plaza (186 units), 
China Clipper Plaza (26 units), Eagle Village (36 units), Parrot Village (50 units), Esperanza 
(120 units), and Scattered Sites - Lincoln Willow (5 units), Stanford House (4 units), and Pulte 
Homes (18 units). The total number of units is 510.  
   
 AHA's portfolio includes Parrot Gardens (8 units) and Scattered Sites 1-Senior Condos (7 
units), Mulberry Town Homes (4 units), Paru House (1 unit), Lincoln House (4 units), and 
Sherman House (9 units). The total number of units is 33. 
  
Units owned by ICD and other properties with tax credits are reported in the ICD packet.  
   
For the months of July 2023 to September 2023, the property management duties were 
contracted to FPI Management Company. The resident services were contracted to 
LifeSTEPS.  
  
DISCUSSION 
This memo provides an overview of the AHA/ AAHC portfolio asset management fiscal year-
to-date financial report through the month of September 2023. This report tracks performance 
per the budget and includes achievements, items of note, and upcoming events or changes. 
Please note the properties’ fiscal year end is June 30 2024, and the figures used in this report 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 2 
February 21, 2024 

  

may change and not match the audit.  
 
The properties faced some challenges last year including a transfer to a new property 
management.  

 Budgets were carried forward from JSCO to FP with minimal changes. Staff expect a 
full zero-based budget for 2024-25. 

 Due to the COVID moratorium portfolio has significant tenant delinquencies of 
$777,606 in total as of September 30, 2023. Staff and FPI have worked through a 
systematic plan to get tenants on payment and to seek significant assistance. 
However, for many households facing a termination notice, rent cannot be collected so 
the delinquency numbers worsened before getting better.   

 Total Operating Revenue: $3,239,370 was 15% lower than budgeted $3,819,791, 
there were a higher than usual outstanding vacant units that took longer than expected 
to be filled, which resulted in higher vacancy loss costs. Staff and FPI are working to 
reduce the time to lease.   

 Rent increases were also not sent in a timely manner for some sites by the prior 
property management company JSCO and, as such, the tenant revenue and subsidy 
revenue does not cover the full amount of Gross Potential Rent allowed by the 
affordability agreements. Regular rent increase submission has restarted under FPI in 
the fall and will continue monthly. 

 In regards to the Operating Expenses, overall expenses are 16% lower than budgeted. 
The properties were short-staffed for some time, lowering the payroll expenses for 
most properties for this period.   

 The NOI overall is 15% lower than the budget.   

 
Statements that apply to all properties: 

 The financials are for three months only. Therefore, annualized numbers are a little 
skewed.  

 Operating Revenue - Includes tenant rent, rental subsidy (HAP), vacancy loss, laundry 
income, and interest on accounts.  

 Tenant Account Receivable and Subsidy Receivables. Property Management and 
Resident Services assist residents with applying for assistance and repayment 
agreements.  

 Operating Expense - Includes marketing, administrative, property management fees, 
salaries and benefits, utilities, operating and maintenance, taxes and insurance, and 
resident services. 

 Net Operating Income (NOI) - Operating Revenue minus Operating Expense. 
 Total Net Cash Flow will be distributed in accordance with the loan and regulatory 
agreements. 

 Occupancy rate is as of September 30, 2023.  

   
Anne B Diament Plaza (65 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $382,496, which is 2% ($7,996) lower than budget. 
 Occupancy is 98% (1 vacant unit). 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 3 
February 21, 2024 

  

 Tenant Revenue is $115,003 and Subsidy Revenue is $302,276 vs. budget $302,276 
and $277,446 respectively.  

 Tenant AccountsReceivable is $26,294 and Subsidy Receivable is $7,362. 
 Operating Expenses are $69,532, which is 58% (113,882) lower than budget due to 
lower payroll and administrative costs as a result of vacant positions and for a 
significant reduction in Operating and maintenance costs. Staff expect this to pick up 
in the fourth quarter as permanent maintenance was hired.  

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $312,964, which is 38% ($86,686) higher than budget, 
which is mainly due to a 50% drop in Operating Costs as described above.  

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $0. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $312,964.  

   
Independence Plaza (186 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $772,436, which is 30% ($328,980) lower than budget mainly 
due to not receiving the CIC payment (other income) until January 2024, and for a 
large number in Accounts Receivable.      

 Occupancy is 98% (4 vacant units). 
 Tenant Revenue is $729,100 and Subsidy Revenue is $342,945 vs.Budget $446,952 
and $302,155 respectively. 

 Tenant Account Receivable is $102,664 and Subsidy Receivable is $3,455. 
 Operating Expenses are $299,644 which is 7% ($21,727) lower than budget.   
 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $472,792, which is 39% ($307,253) lower than the 
budget. 

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $194,274 and 
$12,033.  Debt Service Coverage Ratio is 2.37. 

 Total Net Cash Flow is $266,485.  

   
China Clipper Plaza (26 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $155,027, which is 2% ($2,405) higher than budgeted amount.  
 Occupancy is 100% (0 vacant unit). 
 Tenant Revenue is $51,848 and Subsidy Revenue is $109,858 vs. budget $47,598 
and $115,287 respectively.  

  Tenant Account Receivable is $13,780 and Subsidy Receivable is $1,799. 
 Operating Expenses are $47,902, which is 31% ($21,988) lower than budget, which is 
mainly due to missing payments in utilities, and in taxes and insurance.  

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $317,685, which is 40% 
($91,408) higher than the budget. 

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $0. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $317,685.  

   
Eagle Village (36 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $279,556, which is 2% ($4,631) lower than budget.  
 Occupancy is 94% (2 vacant units). 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 4 
February 21, 2024 

  

 Tenant Revenue is $70,927 and Subsidy Revenue is $218,021 vs. budget $63,827 
and $233,070.  

 Tenant Account Receivable is $13,796 and Subsidy Receivable is $8,049. 
 Operating Expenses are $49,030, which is 49% ($47,526) lower than budget mainly 
due to reduced staffing, and operating & maintenance costs.  

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $230,526, which is 23% ($42,895) higher than the 
budget. 

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $46,848 and 
$6,375.  Debt Service Coverage Ratio is 4.78. 

 Total Net Cash Flow is $177,303.  

   
Parrot Village (50 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $362,752, which is 20% ($91,003) lower than budget due to a 
long standing vacant units. 

 Occupancy is 86% (7 vacant units). 
 Tenant Revenue is $94,426 and Subsidy Revenue is $301,124 vs. budget $114,837 
and $346,128 respectively.  

 Tenant Account Receivable is $317,219 and Subsidy Receivable is $824. 
 Operating Expenses are $174,733, which is 14% ($21,148) higher than budget; this is 
primarily due to increases in repairs and maintenance including planned exterior siding 
repairs and refurbishing vacant units.  

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $188,019, which is 37% ($112,151) lower than the 
budget.  

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are 
$64,695 and $6,375. Debt Service Coverage Ratio is 2.81. 

 Total Net Cash Flow is $22,076.  

   
Parrot Gardens (8 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $28,684, which is 46% ($24,339) lower than budget. Most of 
these units were subject to termination and for those units rent was not being collected 
in September.  

 Occupancy is 100% (0 vacant unit). Note: one unit is used for a management office 
and one for staff housing.  

 Tenant Revenue is $46,241 and Subsidy Revenue is $25,511 vs. budget $17,211 and 
$40,269. 

 Tenant Account Receivable is $23,588 and Subsidy Receivable is $2,043. 
 Operating Expenses are $16,656, which is 35% ($8.782) lower than budget.  
 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $12,028, which is 56% ($15,557) lower than the 
budget. 

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $0. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $11,201.  

   
Esperanza (120 units) 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 5 
February 21, 2024 

  

 Operating Revenue is $991,084, which is 7% ($71,977) lower than budget.     
 Occupancy is 97% (3 vacant units). 
 Tenant Revenue is $253,816 and Subsidy Revenue is $786,898 vs. budget $234,771 
and $869,556. 

 Tenant Account Receivable is $225,828 and Subsidy Receivable is $9,088. 
 Operating Expenses are $282,590, which is 6% ($18,029) lower than budget.  
 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $708,494, which is 7% ($53,948) lower than the 
budget. 

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are 
$246,936 and $9,150. Debt Service Coverage Ratio is 2.83. 

 Total Net Cash Flow is $399,350.  

 
AHA Scattered Sites (25 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $152,731, which is 6% ($9,415) lower than budget.  
 Occupancy is 100% (0 vacant units). 
 Tenant Revenue is $13,059 and Subsidy Revenue is $115,373 vs. budget $46,299 
and $117,831. 

 Tenant Accounts Receivable is $22,708 and Subsidy Receivable is $0. 
 Operating Expenses are $79,039, which is on budget.  
 Net Operating Income is $73,692, which is 12% ($9,596) lower than budget. 
 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are zero.  
 Total Net Cash Flow is $69,460. 

  
AHC Scattered Sites (27 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $114,604, which is 30% ($48,968) lower than budget mainly 
due to higher vacancy loss and Tenant Account Receivable. 

 Occupancy is 85% (4 vacant units). 
 Tenant Revenue is $110,607 and Subsidy Revenue is $66,622 vs. budget $76,485 
and $92,481. 

 Tenant Account Receivable is $31,729 and Subsidy Receivable is negative $327. 
 Operating Expenses are $71,190, which is 22% (20,617) lower than budget, mainly 
due to lower admin expenses.  

 Net Operating Income is $43,414, which is 40% ($28,351) lower than the budget.  
 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are zero.  
 Total Net Cash Flow is $16,796 

 
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
The properties are generally cash flowing positively and the NOI overall is 15% lower than 
the budget.  Continued efforts to collect tenant receivables and to fill units in a timely manner 
should help with lower-than-expected income going forward. In addition, PBVs vacancy loss 
payments for 2023 were not paid until January 2024. It will show as an income in later 
financial reports. On the expense side, FPI has been directed to replace temporary site staff 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 6 
February 21, 2024 

  

with permanent staff to reduce staff cost overruns. Staff are also working with FPI to ensure 
payables are paid more timely. In January, a certain amount of bad debt was also approved 
to be written off by the board.   
  
CEQA 
N/A  
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Accept the AHA/AAHC non-LIHTC Portfolio Asset Management Fiscal Year to Date Financial 
Report through September 30, 2023.  
  
ATTACHMENTS 
1. July-Sept 2023 Financial Report for Non-LIHTC Properties_Final_2.8 
  
Respectfully submitted, 
Bulbul Biswas Goswami 
Bulbul Goswami, Director of Asset Management 
 



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 186

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue 729,100$          446,952$          282,148$             63% 15,680$          
Subsidy Revenue 342,945$          302,155$          40,790$                13% 7,375$            
Vacancy Loss (31,494)$           (14,908)$           (16,586)$              111% (677)$               
Accounts Receivable (275,351)$        (4,483)$             (270,868)$           NA (5,922)$           
Other Income 7,236$               367,217$          (359,981)$           -98% 156$                
Total Operating Revenue 772,436$          1,096,933$      (324,497)$           -30% 16,612$          

-$                       
Administrative Expenses 51,090$            85,449$            (34,359)$              -40% 1,099$            
Utilities Expense 57,679$            69,422$            (11,743)$              -17% 1,240$            
Operating and Maintenance 119,086$          111,499$          7,587$                  7% 2,561$            
Taxes and Insurance 49,460$            43,665$            5,795$                  13% 1,064$            
Resident Services 22,329$            11,336$            10,993$                97% 480$                
Total Operating Expenses 299,644$          321,371$          (21,727)$              -7% 6,444$            

Net Operating Income 472,792$          775,562$          (302,770)$           -39% 10,168$          

Replacement Reserves 12,033$            
Debt Service 194,274$          

Net Cash Flow 266,485$          569,255$          (302,770)$            -53% 5,731$             

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2.37

Operating Expense PUPY 6,444$               6,911$               
Operating Expense PUPM 2,148$               2,304$               

Number of Units 186
Months In YTD 3

Independence Plaza



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 65

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue 115,003$          118,989$          (3,986)$                 -3% 7,077$            
Subsidy Revenue 302,276$          277,446$          24,830$                9% 18,602$          
Vacancy Loss (15,488)$           (7,929)$             (7,559)$                 95% (953)$               
Accounts Receivable (22,202)$           0$                         (22,202)$              NA (1,366)$           
Other Income 2,907$               1,986$               921$                      46% 179$                
Total Operating Revenue 382,496$          390,492$          (7,996)$                  -2% 23,538$          

Administrative Expenses 19,247$            40,784$            21,537$                53% 1,184$            
Utilities Expense 6,654$               38,031$            31,377$                83% 409$                
Operating and Maintenance 23,926$            53,230$            29,304$                55% 1,472$            
Taxes and Insurance 17,101$            24,369$            7,268$                  30% 1,052$            
Resident Services 2,604$               7,800$               5,196$                  67% 160$                
Total Operating Expenses 69,532$             164,214$          94,682$                58% 4,279$             

Net Operating Income 312,964$          226,278$          86,686$                38% 19,259$          

Replacement Reserves N/A N/A
Debt Service N/A N/A

Net Cash Flow 312,964$          226,278$          86,686$                38% 19,259$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio N/A N/A

Operating Expense PUPY 4,279$               10,105$            
Operating Expense PUPM 1,426$               3,368$               

Number of Units 65
Months In YTD 3

Anne B. Diament



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 26

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue 51,848$            47,598$            4,250$                  9% 7,977$            
Subsidy Revenue 109,858$          115,287$          (5,429)$                 -5% 16,901$          
Vacancy Loss -$                    (3,258)$             3,258$                  -100% -$                 
Accounts Receivable (2,355)$             -$                    (2,355)$                 NA (362)$               
Other Income (4,324)$             (7,005)$             2,681$                  -38% (665)$               
Total Operating Revenue 155,027$          152,622$          2,405$                   2% 23,850$          

Administrative Expenses 13,767$            16,082$            2,315$                  14% 2,118$            
Utilities Expense (70)$                    13,661$            13,731$                101% (11)$                 
Operating and Maintenance 24,842$            20,984$            (3,858)$                 -18% 3,822$            
Taxes and Insurance 8,220$               14,592$            6,372$                  44% 1,265$            
Resident Services 1,142$               4,569$               3,427$                  75% 176$                
Total Operating Expenses 47,902$             69,890$             21,988$                31% 7,370$             

Net Operating Income 317,685$          226,277$          91,408$                40% 48,875$          

Replacement Reserves N/A N/A
Debt Service N/A N/A

Net Cash Flow 317,685$          226,277$          91,408$                40% 48,875$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio N/A N/A

Operating Expense PUPY 7,370$               10,752$            
Operating Expense PUPM 2,457$               3,584$               

Number of Units 26
Months In YTD 3

China Clipper



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 36

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue 70,927$            63,827$            (7,100)$                 -11% 7,881$            
Subsidy Revenue 218,021$          233,070$          15,049$                6% 24,225$          
Vacancy Loss (9,779)$             (5,934)$             3,845$                  -65% (1,087)$           
Accounts Receivable (4,157)$             (7,936)$             (3,779)$                 48% (462)$               
Other Income 4,544$               1,160$               (3,384)$                 -292% 505$                
Total Operating Revenue 279,556$          284,187$          4,631$                  2% 31,062$          

Administrative Expenses 22,604$            43,058$            20,454$                48% 2,512$            
Utilities Expense 16,034$            22,891$            6,857$                  30% 1,782$            
Operating and Maintenance 2,885$               17,753$            14,868$                84% 321$                
Taxes and Insurance 7,507$               12,854$            5,347$                  42% 834$                
Resident Services -$                    -$                    -$                       
Total Operating Expenses 49,030$             96,556$             47,526$                49% 5,448$            

Net Operating Income 230,526$          187,631$          (42,895)$              -23% 25,614$          

Replacement Reserves 6,375$               -$                    (6,375)$                 708$                
Debt Service 46,848$            24,782$            (22,066)$              -89% 5,205$            

Net Cash Flow 177,303$          162,849$          (14,454)$              -9% 19,700$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 4.78 7.57

Operating Expense PUPM 454$                   894$                   
Operating Expense PUPY 5,448$               10,728$            

Number of Units 36
Months In YTD 3

Eagle Village



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 50

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue 140,835$          114,837$          (25,998)$              -23% 11,267$          
Subsidy Revenue 301,124$          346,128$          45,004$                13% 24,090$          
Vacancy Loss (64,767)$           (9,219)$             55,548$                -603% (5,181)$           
Accounts Receivable (13,670)$           (864)$                  12,806$                NA (1,094)$           
Other Income (770)$                  2,873$               3,643$                  127% (62)$                 
Total Operating Revenue 362,752$          453,755$          91,003$                20% 29,020$          

Administrative Expenses 42,839$            37,343$            (5,496)$                 -15% 3,427$            
Utilities Expense 17,535$            44,438$            26,903$                61% 1,403$            
Operating and Maintenance 89,680$            48,704$            (40,976)$              -84% 7,174$            
Taxes and Insurance 22,612$            17,109$            (5,503)$                 -32% 1,809$            
Resident Services 2,067$               5,991$               3,924$                  65% 165$                
Total Operating Expenses 174,733$          153,585$          (21,148)$              -14% 13,979$          

Net Operating Income 188,019$          300,170$          112,151$             37% 15,042$          

Replacement Reserves 6,375$               6,375$               
Debt Service 64,695$            34,179$            

Capital Expense + Tenant Relocation 94,873$            -$                    

Net Cash Flow 22,076$             259,616$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2.81 7.60

Operating Expense PUPM 1,165$               1,024$               
Operating Expense PUPY 13,979$            12,287$            

Number of Units 50
Months In YTD 3

Parrot Village



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 8

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue  $            46,241 17,211$                   (29,030)$             -169% 23,121$         
Subsidy Revenue  $            25,511 40,269$                   14,758$               37% 12,756$         
Vacancy Loss  $                       -   (3,449)$                    (3,449)$                100% -$                 
Accounts Receivable  $          (14,926) (7,158)$                    7,768$                 -109% (7,463)$          
Other Income  $          (28,142) 6,150$                      34,292$               558% (14,071)$        
Total Operating Revenue  $             28,684  $                     53,023 24,339$               46% 14,342$         

Administrative Expenses  $               6,070 5,179$                      (891)$                    -17% 3,035$            
Utilities Expense  $               3,790 9,562$                      5,772$                 60% 1,895$            
Operating and Maintenance  $               4,161 6,806$                      2,645$                 39% 2,081$            
Taxes and Insurance  $               2,139 3,273$                      1,134$                 35% 1,070$            
Resident Services  $                   496 618$                          122$                     20% 248$                
Total Operating Expenses  $             16,656  $                     25,438 8,782$                 35% 8,328$            

Net Operating Income  $             12,028  $                     27,585 15,557$               56% 6,014$            

Replacement Reserves  None 
Debt Service  None 
Capital Expense  $                   827 -$                           (827)$                    414$                

Net Cash Flow  $             11,201  $                     27,585 16,384$               59% 5,601$            

Debt Service Coverage Ratio N/A

Operating Expense PUPM  $                   694  $                      1,060 
Operating Expense PUPY  $               8,328  $                   12,719 

Number of Units 8 (6+1 MGR+1 OFF)
Months In YTD 3

Parrot Gardens



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 120

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue 253,816$          234,771$          19,045$                8% 8,461$            
Subsidy Revenue 786,898$          869,556$          (82,658)$              -10% 26,230$          
Vacancy Loss (34,972)$           (33,130)$           (1,842)$                 6% (1,166)$           
Accounts Receivable (2,573)$             (10,906)$           8,333$                  -76% (86)$                 
Other Income (12,085)$           2,770$               (14,855)$              -536% (403)$               
Total Operating Revenue 991,084$          1,063,061$      (71,977)$              -7% 33,036$          

Administrative Expenses 62,552$            68,988$            (6,436)$                 -9% 2,085$            
Utilities Expense 47,691$            79,955$            (32,264)$              -40% 1,590$            
Operating and Maintenance 117,302$          87,214$            30,088$                34% 3,910$            
Taxes and Insurance 48,915$            50,684$            (1,769)$                 -3% 1,631$            
Resident Services 6,130$               13,778$            (7,648)$                 -56% 204$                
Total Operating Expenses 282,590$          300,619$          (18,029)$              -6% 9,420$            

Net Operating Income 708,494$          762,442$          (53,948)$              -7% 23,616$          

Replacement Reserves 9,150$               -$                    9,150$                  305$                
Debt Service 246,936$          173,604$          73,332$                42% 8,231$            
Capital Expense 53,058$            -$                    53,058$                1,769$            

Net Cash Flow 399,350$          588,838$          (189,488)$           -32% 13,312$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2.83 4.39 (2)$                          -36%

Operating Expense PUPM 785$                   835$                   (50)$                       -6%
Operating Expense PUPY 9,420$               10,021$            (601)$                     -6%

Number of Units 120
Months In YTD 3

Esperanza Apartments



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 25

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue  $             13,059 46,299$                    33,240$               72% 2,089$            
Subsidy Revenue  $          115,373 117,831$                 2,458$                  2% 18,460$         
Vacancy Loss  $                        -   (3,283)$                     (3,283)$                 100% -$                 
Gain/Loss to Lease  $             22,298 644$                           (21,654)$              NS 3,568$            large amount of vouchers?
Other Income  $               2,001 655$                           (1,346)$                 -205% 320$                
Total operating Revenue  $          152,731  $                  162,146 9,415$                  6% 24,437$         

Administrative Expenses  $             73,451 42,194$                    (31,257)$              -74% 11,752$         
Utilities Expense  $                    854 6,625$                       5,771$                  87% 137$                
Operating and Maintenance  $               1,036 17,528$                    16,492$               94% 166$                
Taxes and Insurance  $               3,698 12,511$                    8,813$                  70% 592$                
Resident Services
Total Operating Expenses  $             79,039  $                     78,858 (181)$                     0% 12,646$         

Net Operating Income  $             73,692  $                     83,288 9,596$                  12% 11,791$         

Replacement Reserves
Debt Service 
Capital Expense  $               4,232 -$                            (4,232)$                 677$                

Net Cash Flow  $             69,460  $                     83,288 13,828$               17% 11,114$         

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

Operating Expense PUPM  $               1,054 
Operating Expense PUPY  $             12,646 

Number of Units 25
Months In YTD 3

AHA-Scattered Sites



Income Statement Jul-Sept 
Number of Units 27

Actual Budget Difference ($) Difference (%) PUPY
Rental Revenue  $         110,607 76,485$                    34,122$               45% 16,386$         
Subsidy Revenue  $            66,622 92,481$                    (25,859)$             -28% 9,870$            
Vacancy Loss  $          (36,995) (8,448)$                     (28,547)$             338% (5,481)$          
Accounts Receivable  $          (24,935) 2,399$                      (27,334)$             -1139% (3,694)$          
Other Income  $                 (695) 655$                           (1,350)$                -206% (103)$              
Total operating Revenue  $         114,604  $                 163,572 (48,968)$             -30% 16,978$         

Administrative Expenses  $            36,184 54,445$                    (18,261)$             -34% 5,361$            
Utilities Expense  $            17,119 6,200$                      10,919$               176% 2,536$            
Operating and Maintenance  $            10,159 15,890$                    (5,731)$                -36% 1,505$            
Taxes and Insurance  $               7,017 13,219$                    (6,202)$                -47% 1,040$            
Resident Services  $                   711 2,053$                      (1,342)$                -65% 105$                
Total Operating Expenses  $            71,190  $                    91,807 (20,617)$             -22% 10,547$         

Net Operating Income  $            43,414  $                    71,765 (28,351)$             -40% 6,432$            

Replacement Reserves
Debt Service 
Capital Expense  $            26,618 -$                            26,618$               3,943$            carpet and flooring

Appliance replacement
Net Cash Flow  $            16,796  $                    71,765 (54,969)$             -77% 2,488$            Water mitigation

Sounds like a big leak at one of the sites?
Debt Service Coverage Ratio

Operating Expense PUPM  $                   879 
Operating Expense PUPY  $            10,547 

Number of Units 27
Months In YTD 3

AAHC-Scattered Sites



  

 

 
 
To: Board of Directors 
From:  
  

Radha Mehta, Management Analyst  

Prepared By: Radha Mehta, Management Analyst 

 
Date:  
  

February 21, 2024  

Re: Authorize the Executive Director to approve a contract between the 
Housing Authority of the City of Alameda, Alameda Affordable Housing 
Corporation and Transystems Corporation for Relocation Services for a 
not to exceed amount of Five Hundred Thousand dollars and Zero cents 
($500,000.00) until February 28, 2027. 
5.C. 

 
BACKGROUND 
In May 2023, the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda (AHA) presented its Faircloth-to-
RAD approach to the Board of Commissioners and received approval to expend its 120-unit 
Faircloth limit and undergo the Faircloth-to-RAD process at Independence Plaza. On June 
21, 2023, the Board of Commissioners approved the necessary steps to complete Faircloth-
to-RAD application process, including procurement of specialized relocation services. 
  
On August 21, 2023, the AHA released a Request for Proposals (RFP) seeking an 
experienced consultant to serve as Relocation Specialist and Move Coordinator to assist 
AHA and Property Managers. The procurement included services at Independence Plaza and 
also other AHA property portfolio on an as-needed basis. The services requires consultants 
to provide necessary and required relocation assistance to impacted tenants and households. 
  
DISCUSSION 
On September 28, 2023, AHA received proposals from four firms; 360 Relocation 
Consutants, Transystems, Autotemp, and RSG. The firms were reviewed based on 
experience, approach to the project, quality of services and cost proposal. The evaluation 
committee reviewed the proposals and determined three of the firms to have satisfactorily 
met the RFP requirements. Three firms were invited to an interview with the evaluation 
committee in November, 2023 to discuss approach to the project, relevant experience, and 
any clarifying questions the committee still had after reviewing the proposals. Based on the 
evaluation of proposals and the interviews, staff recommends awarding the relocation 
services contract to Transystems Corporation of an amount not to exceed $500,000. 
  



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 2 
February 21, 2024 

  

The cost proposal from Transystems charges between $3,300 to $3,820 per household for 
relocation and coordination services. The services would include: 

 Project management and consulting hours related to individual cases 
 Initial tenant interview 
 Needs assessment 
 Identification and coordination of temporary housing 
 Assistance with moving and storage 
 Payment of relocation assistance benefits 

 
The $500,000 contract amount would be sufficient to cover the relocation services required at 
Independence Plaza, as well as other AHA properties on an as-needed basis. Per the AHA's 
Procurement Policy, any contract greater than $250,000 or any firm whose cumulative 
contracts are greater than $250,000 must receive Board approval.  
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
It is intended that all costs under this contract will be recouped through other sources. 
Reimbursement for relocation costs will be requested of insurance, individual properties, or 
from recapitalization proceeds as available.  
  
CEQA 
Not applicable.  
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Authorize the Executive Director to approve a contract between the Housing Authority of the 
City of Alameda, Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation and Transystems Corporation for 
Relocation Services for a not to exceed amount of Five Hundred Thousand dollars and Zero 
cents ($500,000.00) until February 28, 2027.  
  
ATTACHMENTS 
1. Transystems Consultant Services Agreement 
  
Respectfully submitted, 

  
Radha Mehta, Management Analyst 
 



CONSULTANT SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT

 
RECITALS

 TERM

 SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED

COMPENSATION TO CONSULTANT



 TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE:

STANDARD OF CARE

INDEPENDENT PARTIES

IMMIGRATION REFORM AND CONTROL ACT (IRCA):

NON-DISCRIMINATION:

 INDEMNIFICATION/HOLD HARMLESS



INSURANCE

COVERAGE

(1) 

(2) Liability

(3) Automotive

(4) Professional Liability: 

SUBROGATION WAIVER



FAILURE TO SECURE

ADDITIONAL INSURED

SUFFICIENCY OF INSURANCE:

CONFLICT OF INTEREST:

PROHIBITION AGAINST ASSIGNMENTS

 SUBCONTRACTOR APPROVAL



PERMITS AND LICENSES

REPORTS

(1) 
(2) 
(3) 
(4) 

RECORDS



NOTICES

 

NO SMOKING, DRINKING OR RADIO USE

TERMINATION

 

COMPLIANCES

 GOVERNING LAW:



ADVERTISEMENT:

CONFIDENTIALITY:
Definition.

Nondisclosure and Nonuse Obligation.

Exclusions from Nondisclosure and Nonuse Obligations

Ownership and Return of Confidential Information and Other Materials

 WAIVER:

INTEGRATED CONTRACT



CAPTIONS:

EXHIBITS



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Relocation Specialist: 



Move Coordinator: 



o
o
o
o



EXHIBIT B 
FEE SCHEDULE 

Relocation Specialist 

Move Coordinator 





EXHIBIT C 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSULTANTS  

MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE 

Commercial General Liability (CGL): 

Automobile Liability:

Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions):

IF APPLICABLE: Cyber Liability Insurance: 



IF APPLICABLE: Technology Professional Liability:  

o

o

OTHER INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS:  

Additional Insured Status: :



Primary Coverage: 

 

Notice of Cancellation: 

Self-Insured Retentions:

Acceptability of Insurers:

Verification of Coverage: 

 

Subcontractors: 
 

Notification of claims: 

 

Special Risks or Circumstance: 



    

 

To: Honorable Chair and Members of the Board of Commissioners 
 

From:  
  

Joseph Nagel, Construction Project Manager  

Date:  
  

February 21, 2024  

Re: Approve the Budget for Removal and Replacement of (30) Exterior 
Elevated Balconies at Anne B. Diament Plaza. Authorize the 
Executive Director to Sign a Contract with AmOne Construction 
Not to exceed $862,600.  

BACKGROUND 
On September 17, 2018, the California Legislature passed Senate Bill 721, Chapter 
455. This bill was passed in response to the June 16, 2015, tragedy in Berkeley, 
California where a balcony collapsed and 6 people died while 7 others suffered serious 
injuries.   
 
This law, SB 721, requires an inspection of exterior elevated elements, including decks 
and balconies, for buildings with 3 or more multifamily dwelling units by a licensed 
architect, licensed civil or structural engineer, a building contractor holding specified 
licenses, or an individual certified as a building inspector or building official, as 
specified. The bill requires the inspections, including any necessary testing, to be 
completed by January 1, 2025, with certain exceptions, and would require subsequent 
inspections every 6 years, except as specified. 
 
Anne B. Diament is owned by the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation (AAHC) and 
has no private lender debt.  
 
DISCUSSION 
There was a balcony inspection completed in late 2020 at the Anne B. Diament 
property by Applied Materials & Engineering, Inc. In general, the report noted that 24 
balconies were in need of replacement. Additionally, there were 6 other balconies on 
the property in various stages of disrepair. 
   
Since that time, three years, staff have noted that the repair scope has grown, and 
these repairs are now of the highest priority. The existing elevated balconies require 
extensive repairs, and/or full replacement in the very near future, some immediately. 

 



There are 21 first floor patios and 46 elevated balconies on this property. The elevated 
balconies with metal guardrails are in a variety of 2nd and 3rd configurations consisting 
of Type 5 (wood) construction, supported by a concrete slab on grade. 
   
 A staff assessment of the existing conditions of the residential balconies at the Anne B. 
Diament community was completed in July 2023 and found 30 balconies in need of 
replacement. 
   
Staff prepared and issued an RFP (Request for Proposals) soliciting bids for the work 
identified above and received 5 bids from qualified contractors. AmOne was selected 
as the most responsive bidder. The staff expects to negotiate the contract, secure 
funding and have the contractor mobilize and begin the remediation work by the end of 
March 2024. The construction will utilize prevailing wage rates.  

As of this date, it is not expected that any of the residents will need to relocate 
overnight, as all work is exterior work and will be done during the day. 
   
Prior to contractor mobilization, the staff and contractor will host another meeting with 
the residents to update them on the schedule as well as address what to expect during 
the process. The duration of time for the work on site is expected to be four to six 
months. A schedule will be published, posted in a public place, and (4) notices (2 
weeks, 1 week, 48 hrs.) will be posted on residents and adjacent neighbors' doors prior 
to repairs being made, as well as a notice of completion once the work is done. 
   
 The goal of this renovation is to address current and urgent needs.  It is anticipated 
that this will include full or partial replacement of approximately 65% of the current 
balconies. At that point, additional work can be performed on an annual or biannual 
basis to keep the structures in good condition. 

 
A summary of the soft and hard costs, as well as contingency is below. Staff 
recommends approval of the entire budget, as well as the Contract with AmOne 
Construction. Staff will be authorized to use contingency for unforeseen conditions and 
cost overruns. 
 



 
   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Anne B. Diament has multiple sources of reserves and funds to cover some of the costs 
of these repairs. The remainder of costs will be applied to the AHA Reserve Policy - 
Preservation area.  The cost of the repairs, plus a 15% contingency for unanticipated 
costs or additional scope, is anticipated to be $862,600.    
 
With the Board of Commissiones' approval, staff will use project reserves, current cash 
flow and the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda (AHA) reserves for the work.  
 
CEQA 
Not Applicable  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Approve the Budget for  Removal and Replacement of (30) Exterior Elevated Balconies at Anne 
B. Diament Plaza. Authorize the Executive Director to Sign a Contract with AmOne Construction 
Not to exceed $862,600. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
None  
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Joseph Nagel, Construction Project Manager 



  

 

 
 
To: Board of Directors 
From:  
  

Sean Prevette, Asst. Director of Administrative Services  

Prepared By: Sean Prevette, Asst. Director of Administrative Services 

 
Date:  
  

February 21, 2024  

Re: Adopt the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation Procurement Policy. 
6.A. 

 
BACKGROUND 
The Procurement Policy outlines the methods by which the Alameda Affordable Housing 
Corporation (AAHC) will obtain goods and services. This is a new policy that is designed to 
meet the needs of AAHC in regard to procurement processes, including outlining the process 
for expenditure approvals and procurement activities at all AAHC owned properties under 
third-party management.   
  
DISCUSSION 
The policy outlines thresholds and associated procedures for all purchases, as well as 
providing the threshold for completion of competitive negotiations. Additional processes and 
requirements for the approval of expenditures at AAHC owned properties have also been 
included in the Procurement Policy to identify the appropriate procurement procedures.   
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no direct financial impact of the approval of this policy, but will change how staff and 
third-party management procure services and materials in the future.   
  
CEQA 
N/A  
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation Procurement Policy.  
  
ATTACHMENTS 
1. AAHC Procurement Policy 
  



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 2 
February 21, 2024 

  

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Sean Prevette, Asst. Director of Administrative Services 
 



Page 1 of 7AAHC Procurement Policy 

ALAMEDA AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
PROCUREMENT POLICY

All procurements made by ALAMEDA AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
(AAHC) will be made in accordance with the procurement standards detailed below.

Procurement transactions will maximize open and free competition while ensuring 
the financial stability of AAHC. AAHC shall not engage in procurement practices that 
may be considered arbitrary or restrictive.

I. GENERAL

AAHC will:

• Provide a procurement system of quality and integrity;

• Make all feasible efforts to ensure that small and minority-owned businesses, 
women’s business enterprises, and disabled veteran businesses are used 
when possible;

• Provide for the fair and equitable treatment of persons or firms involved in 
AAHC procurements;

• Ensure that supplies and services (including construction) are procured 
efficiently, effectively, and at the most favorable prices available to AAHC;

• Promote competition in contracting; and

• Assure that AAHC purchasing actions are in compliance with all applicable 
federal, state, local laws, and any other applicable funding programs assisting 
a particular project or activity.

II. METHODS FOR PROCUREMENT

Procurements shall be made using one of the following methods: (a) small purchase 
procedures, (b) competitive negotiations, and (c) non-competitive negotiation.

A. Small Purchases

1. Micro purchases. For purchases up to $10,000 a minimum of only one quote 
is required provided that the quote is considered reasonable. The reasonableness 
may be determined based on catalog price, market research, experience or past 
purchase. To the greatest extent feasible and to promote competition, requests for 
quotes for small purchases should be distributed among qualified sources. Quotation 
for small purchases could be obtained by fax, email, or mailed correspondence.

2. Small purchase dollar limits. Purchases of supplies, equipment, and services 
that cost between $10,001 and $250,000 require written estimates. AAHC will solicit 
written responses from at least three vendors and, if no such responses are available, 
a statement explaining the procurement will be prepared and filed.



Page 2 of 7AAHC Procurement Policy 

B. Competitive Negotiations

AAHC will use competitive negotiations when the supplies, equipment, or services 
have a budget exceeding $150,000.

1. Request for Proposal

A Request for Proposal (RFP) will be prepared and posted on AAHC’s and/or the 
Housing Authority’s website. It may also be emailed to at least three (3) potential 
vendors. The RFP will describe services needed and identify the factors to be 
considered in the evaluation of proposals. Requests for proposals will always include 
cost as one of the evaluation criteria for selection.

Award must be made to the vendor whose written proposal is determined by the 
AAHC to be the most advantageous to AAHC. Evaluations must be based on the 
factors set forth in the Request for Proposal and an evaluation of each response must 
be prepared. The review committee, approved by the President or their designee, 
may contact the firms regarding their proposals for the purpose of clarification and 
record in writing the nature of the clarification. If it is determined that no acceptable 
proposal has been submitted, the received proposals may be rejected and the RFP 
may be cancelled and reissued. New proposals may be solicited on the same or 
revised terms, or the procurement may be abandoned.

2. Request for Qualifications

For the procurement of certain professional services, a Request for Qualifications 
(RFQ) may be used. RFQs are handled in a similar method to RFPs with the 
exception that cost is not a factor in the initial evaluation. An RFQ will be prepared 
and posted on the Housing Authority’s website. It may also be emailed to at least 
three (3) potential vendors. The RFQ will describe services needed and identify the 
factors to be considered in the evaluation of proposals. The review committee, 
approved by the President or their designee, will evaluate the responses and rank 
them by comparative qualifications. The highest scoring person or firm will be 
contacted to negotiate cost. If the President, or their designee, is unable to negotiate 
a satisfactory cost arrangement, the second highest scoring person or firm will be 
invited to negotiate. The President, or their designee, will maintain a written record of 
all such negotiations.

3. General Contractor Selection for Contracts over $500,000

AAHC will use an RFQ to select General Contractors to provide pre- construction and 
general contracting services for construction projects with a budget exceeding 
$500,000.

The General Contractor competitive selection process will take place in two phases:



Page 3 of 7AAHC Procurement Policy 

Phase I:
A review panel approved by the President, or their designee, will evaluate all 
submissions of qualifications based on scoring criteria that will be included in the 
RFQ. Scoring will take into account the General Contractor's experience and the 
experience of individual staff assigned to the Project. After verification of scoring a 
"short list" will be announced naming three or fewer applicants who will proceed to 
Phase II of the selection process. References can be checked to help inform the 
selection of firms for the short list.

Phase II:
Short-listed General Contractors will be interviewed by the selection panel. Short- 
listed General Contractors will be provided with the interview questions and interview 
scoring criteria prior to the interviews. Short-listed General Contractors will also be 
required to submit for evaluation a proposed fee including general condition costs, 
overhead and profit, and documentation supporting their experience with plan review 
and cost estimating.

The selected General Contractor will be the highest scoring applicant from Phase I 
and II combined, based on qualifications submitted, reference calls, and interviews. 
This General Contractor will be selected to join the design/construction team, provide 
pre-construction services, and conditionally enter into a negotiated construction 
contract.

C. Noncompetitive Negotiations

Noncompetitive negotiations may be used for procurements when competitive 
negotiations are not feasible. AAHC may purchase goods and services through non-
competitive negotiations when it is determined in writing by the President, or their 
designee, that competitive negotiation or bidding is not feasible and that:

1. An emergency exists that threatens the health, welfare, or safety, or 
endangers property, or would otherwise cause serious injury to the AAHC, 
as may arise by reason of a flood, earthquake, epidemic, riot, equipment 
failure, or similar event. In such cases, there must be an immediate need for 
supplies, services, or construction such that the need cannot be met through 
any other procurement methods, and the emergency procurement shall be 
limited to those supplies or services necessary to meet the emergency, or

2. The product or service can be obtained only from one source, or
3. The contract is for the purchase of perishable items purchased on a weekly 

or more frequent basis, or
4. Only one satisfactory proposal is received through RFP or RFQ.
5. The President or their designee determines it is in the best business interest 

of AAHC and/or its residents with consideration of any applicable regulatory 
requirements to ensure a competitive process.

Procurement by noncompetitive negotiation requires the strictest attention to the



Page 4 of 7AAHC Procurement Policy 

observation of impartiality toward all suppliers. The President or their designee must 
approve all procurements by non-competitive negotiation when only one supplier is 
involved or only one bid or response to an RFP/RFQ is received.

AAHC may negotiate a contract with a vendor who has been competitively selected 
through a Housing Authority procurement process, or another competitive 
procurement process, without having to undergo a duplicate competitive selection 
process.

III. CONTRACTS

AAHC shall require assurance that, before entering into a contract, the price is 
reasonable. A comparison with other offers shall generally be sufficient determination 
of the reasonableness of price and no further analysis is required. If a reasonable 
number of quotes are not obtained to establish reasonableness through price 
competition, the President or their designee shall document price reasonableness 
through other means, such as prior purchases of this nature, catalog prices, the 
personal knowledge at the time of purchase, comparison to the budget, or any other 
reasonable basis.

Generally, all procurements in excess of $10,000 will be memorialized and supported 
by a written contract. Where it is not feasible, inapplicable, or is impractical to prepare 
a contract, a written finding to this effect will be prepared and some form of 
documentation regarding the transaction will also be prepared.

All contracts will contain language that allows AAHC the opportunity to cancel any 
contract for convenience or for cause. Said cause shall include (but not be limited to) 
demonstrated lack of ability to perform the work specified, unwillingness to complete 
the work in a timely fashion, cancellation of liability insurance or worker's 
compensation, failure to pay suppliers or workers, unsafe working conditions caused 
by the contractor, failure to comply with federal, state,  and local wage laws (where 
applicable) or other associated regulatory requirements, failure to keep accurate and 
timely records of the job, or failure to make those records available to AAHC's 
associate or partner (on request), failure to meet program monitoring requirements, 
or any other documented matter which could cause a hardship for the AAHC if a claim 
should arise or the work not be completed on schedule at the specified cost. 

The President is authorized to approve contract modifications (i.e., change orders, 
addendums) not to exceed the cumulative authorization limit. A contract modification 
that raises the cumulative total of the procurement to an amount exceeding the 
President’s authorization limit, requires approval by the Board of Directors.

Note for purposes of managing AAHC’s owned properties, the process for approving 
expenditures shall be as follows: 

1. Compliance with Legal Requirements
a. Agent shall use reasonable means to become aware of, and shall take such



Page 5 of 7AAHC Procurement Policy 

actions as Agent deems prudent and necessary to comply with any laws,
regulations orders, plans or requirements affecting the use or operation of 
the Property by any federal, state, county, or municipal agency or authority,
including but not limited to compliance with and participation in
administrative grievance procedures, provided that if the cost of compliance
in any instance exceeds $10,000, Agent shall not expend funds for
compliance without Owner’s prior written consent unless such expenditure
is in the Owner-approved Annual Budget, or the cost must be incurred to
avoid immediate property damage or personal injury as a result of an
Emergency.

b. Agent shall promptly, within 24 hours, notify Owner in writing of all such
orders, notices, plans or requirements requiring expenditure of funds not
included within the Owner-approved Annual Budget. Agent, however, shall
not take any action as long as Owner is contesting, or has affirmed its
intention to contest and promptly institutes proceedings contesting any law,
order, plan or requirement.

c. Agent’s expense for use of third party consultants or experts, including
attorneys, required for the performance of Agent’s duties that are included
in the Owner-approved Annual Budget shall be paid by Agent from the
Property’s Operating Account to the extent permitted by HUD Handbook
4370.2 subject to this Agreement’s requirements for Owner prior approval
of the expenditure through the annual budget, or Emergency conditions as
defined herein.

2. Repairs and Maintenance
a. Agent shall make no expenditures in excess of $5,000.00 or the maximum 

amount set forth in any limited partnership or regulatory agreement, 
whichever is less, for repairs, without the prior written consent of Owner, 
unless (i) the Owner has approved the expenditure for such repair in the 
Owner-approved Annual Budget, or (ii) such repairs are emergency repairs 
to the Property immediately necessary for the preservation or safety of the 
Property, the safety of persons, or which are required to avoid suspension 
of necessary services to the Property (Emergency). When Emergency repair 
in excess of $5.000.00 are undertaken, Agent will promptly notify Owner in 
writing. If the agent fails to maintain fiscal responsibility and is operating the 
property outside of the agreed upon budget terms. At that point, any 
expenses in excess of $1,000.00 will need to seek approval from the owner. 

3. Capital Assets
a. Agent shall make no expenditures in excess of $5,000.00 for alterations,
capital improvements, renovations or replacements of furniture, fixtures or 

equipment, unless such expenditure is contained in the Annual Budget, 
without the prior written approval of Owner. The Owner-approved Annual 
Budget shall constitute Agent’s authorization to make the budgeted 
expenditure without Owner’s further provided that a) the amount of the 
expenditure is within 15 percent (15%) or $10,000.00 of the originally
approved amount, whichever is less. The Agent shall be familiar with the 
Agency’s Capitalization policy. Attachment to be provided.

b. Other than replacements, Agent shall make no disposition of fixed assets 
(as determined in accordance with Owner's Chart of Accounts) with an 



Page 6 of 7AAHC Procurement Policy 

original value in excess of $10,000.00 without the prior written approval 
of Owner.

4. Service Contracts and Equipment Leases
a. Agent is authorized to make and enter into all service contracts and 

equipment leases in the Owner’s legal name, as agent for and on Owner’s 
behalf, as are required in the ordinary course of business for the operation, 
maintenance, and service of the Property, and to pay the same when due, 
in accordance with the Owner-approved Annual Budget. Agent must obtain 
the Owner’s prior written consent before entering into any service contract 
or equipment lease for the account of Owner when (i) the service contract or 
equipment lease is not in the Owner-approved Annual Budget; (ii) the term 
of the contract or lease exceeds one (1) year; or (iii) the contract or lease is 
not cancelable without cause or cost on thirty (30) days’ notice unless such 
contract or lease is necessary to avoid immediate property damage or 
personal injury as a result of an Emergency.” Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Agent shall attempt to contact and secure prior approval of Owner in the 
event any such Emergency expenditure is likely to exceed $10,000.00. 
Agent shall abide by State and federal prevailing wage in its agreements with 
vendors for physical improvements as applicable if work is in excess of 
$50,000. The Agent shall inform the Owner of all nonemergency work that is
expected to exceed $10,000 so that the Owner may ascertain whether 
prevailing wage applies and to review the public bidding process.

AAHC purchasing and contracting will comply with local, state and federal regulations 
applicable to recipients of Section 8 Project-based Voucher assistance, and any 
other applicable funding programs assisting a particular project or activity.

IV. DOCUMENTATION

All source documents supporting any given transaction and outreach activities 
(receipts, purchase orders, invoices, RFP/RFQ data and bid materials) will be 
retained and filed in an appropriate manner, in accordance with applicable retention 
policies. At a minimum, source document data must be sufficient to establish the 
basis for selection, basis for cost, (including the issue of reasonableness of cost), 
rationale for method of procurement and selection of contract type, and basis for
payment.

V. LOCALLY OWNED, MINORITY-OWNED, FEMALE-OWNED AND SMALL 
BUSINESSES

Efforts will be taken to identify and solicit participation of locally owned, minority- 
owned, female-owned and small businesses; however, it will not be the determining 
evaluating criteria when selecting a vendor to provide services or materials.

VI. CODE OF CONDUCT

No AAHC director, officer, consultant, or designated agent of AAHC will take part or 
have an interest in the award of any procurement transaction if a conflict of interest, 



Page 7 of 7AAHC Procurement Policy 

real or apparent, exists. A conflict of interest occurs when the official, employee or 
designated agent of AAHC, partners of such individuals, immediate family members, 
or an organization which employs or intends to employ any of the above has a 
financial or other interest in any of the competing firms. AAHC directors and officers 
are subject to a conflict of interest policy.

No AAHC director, officer, consultant or designated agent of AAHC may acquire a 
financial interest in or benefit in any way from any activity which uses any portion of 
AAHC funding, nor shall they have any interest in any contract, subcontract or 
agreement for themselves or any family members.

VII. APPEALS AND REMEDIES

Vendors wishing to contest the selection process or results will have five (5) business 
days from the date of notice of the final selection to submit written complaints to the 
President. Thereafter, The President has Ten (10) business days to respond in 
writing to the complaint.

Adopted by the Board of Directors on February 21, 2024.


